
MINUTES 
CITY OF NORCO 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS – 2820 CLARK AVENUE 

 SPECIAL MEETING 
AUGUST 31, 2011 

 

   

1. CALL TO ORDER:   7:00 PM 
 
2. ROLL CALL: Chair Wright, Vice-Chair Henderson, Commission Members 

Jaffarian, Leonard and Hedges  
 
3. STAFF PRESENT: Planning Director King, Senior Planner Robles, 

Lieutenant Cooper, Fire Chief Bryan and Deputy City Clerk Germain  
 
4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Commissioner Hedges 
 
5. APPEAL NOTICE: Read by PD King 
 
6. HEARING FROM THE AUDIENCE ON ITEMS NOT LISTED ON THE AGENDA: 
 
Ed Dixon: Mr. Dixon addressed the traffic study provided for the Norco Egg Ranch 
area; he noted that he has been conducting his own survey, proving that what has been 
provided is incorrect.  
 
7. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Minutes of August 10, 2011 Recommended Action: 

Approval (Deputy City Clerk) 
M/S Henderson/Hedges to approve the minutes of August 10, 2011 as written 
AYES: Unanimous       Motion Passed 
 
Chair Wright announced that Business Items 10.A & 10.B will be heard first as they will 
go quickly.  
 
8. CONTINUED ITEMS:   

A. Resolution 2011-___; Site Plan 2011-05 (Beckman): A Request for 
Approval to Allow a 439 Square-foot Tack Room/Shed at 249 (Oldenburg 
Lane Located within the Norco Ridge Ranch Specific Plan (NRRSP). 
Continued from regular meeting on August 10, 2011 Recommended 
Action: Continue  (SP Robles) 

SP Robles recommended that Conditional Use Permit 2011-05 be continued off 
calendar.  
 
M/S Jaffarian/Hedges to continue Conditional Use Permit 2011-05 off calendar 
AYES: Unanimous       Motion Passed 
 

B. Resolution 2011-___: Conditional Use Permit 2011-11 (Correa): A 
Request for Approval to Allow an Accessory Building Consisting of a 2,640 
Square-Foot Metal Barn at 2330 Corona Avenue Located within the A-1-
20 Zone. Continued from regular meeting on August 10, 2011 
Recommended Action: Continue (SP Robles) 



Planning Commission Minutes 
Page 2 
August 31, 2011, Special Meeting 
 

 

SP Robles recommended that Conditional Use Permit 2011-11 be continued to the 
meeting of September 14, 2011.  
 
M/S Henderson/Leonard to continue Conditional Use Permit 2011-11 to September 
14, 2011 
AYES: Unanimous       Motion Passed 
 
9. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Resolution 2011-47: Conditional Use Permit 2011-15 (Kardani): A 
Request for Approval to Allow a Car Wash at 2100 Hamner Avenue 
Located within Norco Auto Mall Specific Plan. Recommended Action: 
Approval (SP Robles) 

SP Robles presented the staff report on file in the Planning Division. She noted that a 
car wash is a conditionally permitted use within the Norco Auto Mall Specific Plan. Staff 
recommends approval. 
 
PC Leonard inquired about the water drainage and reclaimed water; in response, SP 
Robles stated that this requirement is noted under Condition No. 13 of the CUP.  
 
In response to PC Jaffarian, SP Robles confirmed that the canopies will be permanent 
and are to be anchored per safety requirements.   
 
Chair Wright OPENED the public hearing, indicating that proper notification had 

been made and asked for the appearance of those wishing to speak.  

 

Ben Louk, Property Owner: Mr. Louk answered some of the Commissioners’ 

questions; yes, a reclaimed water system will be used, the business plan is to employ a 

minimum of 20-25 people; in response to PC Hedges, he stated that although there are 

a few car wash businesses nearby, they cater more to the car dealerships in the 

neighborhood; and the business hours of operation will be set based on what the code 

allows. Mr. Louk asked if a separate address could be set for each building, noting that 

it may be helpful for emergency services. In response, Fire Chief Bryan stated that the 

applicant should contact staff for compliance, and that this is a separate request.  

 
Chair Wright CLOSED the public hearing, bringing the discussion back to the 
Commission. 
  
PC Hedges stated she is concerned with a small portion of the Norco Auto Mall area 
being used for a car wash, as the hopes are that eventually a new car dealership may 
want to move into this site, and added her concern about the density of car wash 
businesses in the same area. 
 
PC Leonard concurred with PC Hedges, and he questioned the request to change the 
address and if that would impede in making a decision on this request.  
 
 
 



Planning Commission Minutes 
Page 3 
August 31, 2011, Special Meeting 
 

 

 
VC Henderson stated that although car washes are a conditionally permitted use, he 
would like to review the Specific Plan zoning for compliance. He had further questions 
for staff on Condition No. 3, as well as No. 10 regarding landscape. He asked that a 
condition be added to require the business to use the E-Verify system on all 
employment prospects as approved by City Council. 
 
M/S Henderson/Hedges to continue to the September 14, 2011 Planning Commission 
meeting 
 
Under Discussion: Chair Wright suggested that the exit onto Hamner Avenue be a 
right turn only. 
AYES: Unanimous       Motion Passed 
 

B. Resolution 2011-54: Conditional Use Permit 2011-09 (Koziel): A Request 
for Approval to Allow the Use of the Outdoor Deck and Front Fenced Area 
as a Dining Area (Serving of Food and Alcoholic Beverages) at an Existing 
Restaurant (Mavericks Steak House) Located at 3841 Hamner Avenue. 
Recommended Action: Approval (PD King)  

PD King presented the staff report on file in the Planning Division. He reviewed a 
decision made by the Planning Commission over a year ago, as approved by the City 
Council, allowing the applicant to reapply for use of the outdoor deck for service of food 
and alcohol, as long as he had come into compliance. PD King clarified an erroneous 
statement on page 2, second paragraph of the staff report.  It states that the applicant 
constructed the deck without notification to the City, when the applicant did indeed 
approach the City and was told that if the deck was under 36“ in height a permit was not 
needed. He added that an accessibility issue was brought up due to the American 
Disability Act, so the City required a front fenced area that did not require stair access, 
which is now complete. PD King noted two condition changes; Condition No. 5 will now 
show the maximum occupancy of 284 as established by the Certificate of Occupancy 
issued by the Building Department; and Condition No. 21 will be changed to note that 
access to the deck will be from the inside of the restaurant or from the main access of 
the building only, and an automatic emergency exit-only locking gate is to be put in at 
the bottom of the staircase prior to beginning of the liquor and food service, as 
suggested by the Fire Chief. Staff recommends approval. 
 
Lt. Cooper provided a presentation and hand out pertaining to Maverick Steakhouse 
and a letter to the Department of Alcoholic Beverage Control dated April 27, 2011. He 
noted the information provided was requested by the ABC. He asked the Commission to 
take this into consideration in making its decision on the CUP modification. 
 
Fire Chief Bryan provided some safety points that have been discussed with the 
applicant, noting that the applicant is willing to work with the City regarding the concerns 
of safety.   
 
Discussions ensued, reviewing the conditions of the modification.  
 



Planning Commission Minutes 
Page 4 
August 31, 2011, Special Meeting 
 

 

Chair Wright OPENED the public hearing, indicating that proper notification had 

been made and asked for the appearance of those wishing to speak.  

 
Rob Koziel, applicant: Mr. Koziel wanted to respond to Lt. Cooper’s comments, but 
was asked to speak only in reference to the staff report presented to the Commission 
for approval. He stated that the original conditional use permit of 2002 should be 
approved again, that the current modification has additional conditions he doesn’t want. 
He added that he wants to be allowed to serve alcohol on the patio. 
 
Chair Wright CLOSED the public hearing, bringing the discussion back to the 
Commission.  
 
PC Hedges stated that the CUP is written correctly and is good the way it is.  
 
PC Leonard noted he is a bit reluctant to approve the CUP without an actual maximum 
load number for the deck but agrees with all the other conditions. He asked if a 
maximum load factor on the patio can be determined.  
 
PC Jaffarian asked that Condition No. 5 indicate a maximum load on the deck, which 
can be approved by the Building Department; he would also like a condition added to 
prohibit any type of outside heater on the deck and to limit the hours of occupancy on 
the deck as suggested by Lt. Cooper to 11:00 AM to 11:00 PM.  
 
Discussion continued. 
 
M/S Jaffarian/Hedges to adopt Resolution No. 2011-54, approving Modification 2 to 
CUP 2002-14, to allow service of food and alcohol to an existing outdoor deck and front 
fenced area at Mavericks Steak House, located at 3841 Hamner Avenue, with the 
addition of the following conditions, prohibition of any type of outside heater on the 
deck, limiting the hours of occupancy on the deck to 11:00am to 11:00pm, and a 
maximum load on the deck as approved by the Building Department. 
AYES: Unanimous       Motion Passed 
 

C. Resolutions 2011-48 Through 2011-53; Zone Changes 2011-01 through 
2011-03 and General Plan Amendments 2011-01 through 2011-03 (City of 
Norco): A City-Initiated Proposal for Zone Changes and Changes in the 
Corresponding General Plan Land Use Designation to Apply the Hospitality 
Development zone on: 1) Approximately 6.75 Acres on the Southwest 
Corner of Valley View Avenue and Second Street; 2) Approximately 3.34 
Acres Between Valley View Avenue and the I-15 Freeway North of Second 
Street; and 3) Approximately 2.18 Acres South of Hidden Valley Parkway 
and East of Hamner Avenue Adjacent to the I-15 Freeway. Recommended 
Action: Approval (PD King) 
 

PD King presented the staff report on file in the Planning Division. He noted that the 
previous discussions were based on providing areas of commerce in town. He reviewed 
the proposed changes to each individual site, adding that there are no proposed 
projects at this time. PD King stated that when projects come forth, each would be 



Planning Commission Minutes 
Page 5 
August 31, 2011, Special Meeting 
 

 

reviewed on a case-by-case basis. He added that a traffic study was done, and would 
be incorporated into the conditions prior to approval of any projects. Staff recommends 
a negative declaration, and recommends approval to the City Council. 
 
In response to PC Leonard, PD King noted that this subject was previously discussed 
by the Commission as requested by the City Council, at which time only the zoning was 
established; no potential locations were discussed at the time.  
 
Discussion ensued regarding non-conforming uses, the need for a rebuild letter if or 
when a property sells, and the current specific plan as opposed to the new zone. 
 
Chair Wright OPENED the public hearing, indicating that proper notification had 

been made and asked for the appearance of those wishing to speak.  

 
Linda Dixon: Mrs. Dixon stated her concerns regarding the dwindling A-1-20 zone and 
the potential of traffic at Second Street and I-15 Freeway.  
 
John Kort: Mr. Kort noted his concerns regarding traffic, potential graffiti problem and the 
noise situation. He added that he does not support this item.  
 
Brian McCormick: Mr. McCormick lives on Valley View Avenue and stated that he will be 
the most affected resident when a project is placed there. He noted that the City Charter 
is supposed to stop commercialization from happening. 
 
Larry Cusimano: Mr. Cusimano stated that he is against the rezoning and 
commercialization; adding that the A-1-20 zone is maintained. 
 
Patricia Overstreet: Mrs. Overstreet stated she is not against a hospitality zone, but only 
its potential location. She noted that there was a once a promise made that no 
commercial development were to be build east of the I-15 freeway when it came in.  
 
Mr. Rob Was: Mr. Was stated that he is in favor of this change, adding that the City is 
poor and needs the money.  
 
Kim Poon: Ms. Poon is in favor of the rezoning; she stated that if Second Street would be 
expanded accordingly, there would not be a gridlock. 
 
Chair Wright CLOSED the public hearing, bringing the discussion back to the 
Commission. 
  
VC Henderson noted that the big hill property has sat empty for a long time and that no 
one has come along to offer to build houses. He added that the properties across the 
street are very blighted. He addressed some of the issues brought up by the public.  
VC Henderson explained that this Commission has the right to place conditions regarding 
buffers and other decisions to improve the property.  
 
PC Jaffarian shared some of the previous discussions regarding this zoning.  
 



Planning Commission Minutes 
Page 6 
August 31, 2011, Special Meeting 
 

 

PC Leonard noted his concerns with taking away the A-1-20 zone, adding that if it were a 
commercial zone he would not have a problem with it.  
 
PC Hedges stated she likes the designation, but feels other areas are more conducive to 
this new zone. She stated that she doesn’t want to change the A-1-20 zone to a 
commercial type zone and also noted concerns with potential traffic.  
 
Chair Wright noted that there are better areas throughout town for this designation and he 
is not in favor of changing these properties.  
 
M/S Jaffarian/Hedges to recommend denial of Resolution Nos. 2011-48 through 2011-

53, proposed zone changes.  

AYES: Unanimous       Motion Passed 

 

This is a public hearing item and is tentatively scheduled to go before the City Council on 

September 21, 2011. 

 

The following business items, 10.A. & 10.B. were heard by the Planning Commission at 

the beginning of the meeting, at 7:08 AM. 

 

10. BUSINESS ITEMS:  
A. Resolution 2011-___, Denial Resolution Prepared for Conditional Use 

Permit 2011-12 (Arroyo); Denied without Prejudice on August 10, 2011. 
SP Robles presented the staff report on file in the Planning Division. She asked the 
Commission review the resolution and approve the rewrite for denial. 
 
M/S Henderson/Jaffarian to confirm denial of Conditional Use Permit 2011-12 without 
prejudice, of an accessory building consisting of a 938 square-foot carport and storage 
building at 3764 Sierra Avenue. 
AYES: Unanimous       Motion Passed 
 

B. Resolution 2011-___, Koopman: A Request for Approval of a 602 
Square-Foot Gazebo at 310 Filly Lane in the A-1-20 Zone. 
Recommended Action: Approval (SP Robles)  

SP Robles presented the staff report on file in the Planning Division. She stated the 
project has been reviewed for compliance. Staff recommends approval. 
 
M/S Henderson/Hedges to adopt Resolution No.2011-46, to allow a 602 square-foot 
gazebo at 310 Filly Lane (Site Plan 2011-17 – Koopman) 
AYES: Unanimous       Motion Passed 
 
Recessed:   8:55 PM 
 
Reconvened:  9:02 PM 
 
  



Planning Commission Minutes 
Page 7 
August 31, 2011, Special Meeting 
 

 

C. Criteria for Issuing Rebuild Letters: A Request to Review the 
Establishment of Criteria for the Issuance of Rebuild Letters for Non-
Conforming Residential Uses in Residential and Commercial Zones. 
Recommended Action: Recommendation to City Council (SP Robles)  

SP Robles presented the staff report on file in the Planning Division. She noted that 
discussions began in July 2011, that the City Attorney suggested provisions that needed 
to be made. She asked for Commission direction. 
 
Discussion ensued.  
 
Direction was received for a Zone Code Amendment. 
 
11. CITY COUNCIL:       Received and Filed 
 A. Recap of Actions Taken at the August 17, 2011 City Council/Community 

Redevelopment Agency Meeting. 
 

B. City Council Minutes dated August 3, 2011 
 
12. PLANNING COMMISSION: Oral Reports from Various Committees: NONE 
 
13. STAFF: Current Work Program dated August 25, 2011: Received and Filed 
 
14. OTHER MATTERS  
 A. Follow-up on Items from Previous Meetings (Director King): NONE 
 

 PC Hedges inquired about the Rooster Committee, in response, PD King shared 
that the committee had met only once and has scheduled its next meeting on 
Thursday, September 8, 2011.  

 VC Henderson asked if the City Attorney and/or Law Enforcement will be 
attending the Rooster Committee meeting. PD King stated that he will verify their 
attendance.    
 

15. ADJOURNMENT: Chair Wright adjourned the meeting at 9:29 PM 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
 
___________________ 
Steve King 
Planning Secretary 
 
/di-79266 


